IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-1750

JESSIE DEAN ELLIS	Appellant
VS.	
GRESHAM SERVICE STATIONS, INC, ETAL	Appellees
BRIEF OF APPELLANT JESSIE DEAN ELLIS	

Oral Argument Requested

MORGAN & MORGAN, P.A.
Omar L. Nelson
188 E. Capitol Street, Suite 777
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
601.949.3388
Attorney for Appellant

Certificate of Interested Persons

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that he following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this Case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's premises liability/negligence claims.
- II. Whether the Trial Court erred in striking the expert testimony opinions of Plaintiff's security expert, Chief Tyrone Lewis.
- III. Whether the Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion to Reconsider concerning the exclusion of deposition testimony of Edgar Love and excluding Love from testifying at trial.

PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Facts

The Assault

On October 6, 2006, Jessie Dean Ellis had been helping a friend, Richard Jenkins, do work around Jenkins' auto repair shop. (Jenkins, RE 044). Ellis and Jenkins have been friends for thirty-plus years since they met in the National Guard (Jenkins, RE 044) At the end of the day, Jenkins took Ellis home (Ellis was staying in a camper on his uncle's property near the Indianola landfill Jenkins, RE 044). They stopped at the Double Quick on BB King Drive in Indianola so Ellis could buy some cigarettes. Ellis also apparently called a friend, Terry Timmons, about possibly picking him up there(Timmons, RE 112). Ellis recalled purchasing the cigarettes in the Double Quick, and then, upon leaving the store, he encountered a group of people congregating outside the front door. One hit Ellis in the jaw and another took his cell phone. (Ellis, RE 039)

Richard Jenkins' testimony of events up to this point is much the same. Jenkins testified:

He (Ellis) went in the store and then he came out and when he came out, it was a bunch of guys crowded around him and I seen one of them take his cell phone and then another one kind of, kind of hit him, you know, and I didn't know what was going on, you know, it was so many people around there and I had done been around that place before and got a glass knocked out of my truck, so I was kind of scared, you know, what was going to happen so I went on and left...

(Jenkins, RE 045)

Jenkins said there were approximately ten to fifteen people around the Double Quick and the liquor store next door, outside drinking (RE 045). The group surrounded Ellis, pushing him toward the liquor store at the end of the building and started hollering (RE 046). Jenkins got scared and left (RE 046), going around the block. When he returned, he did not see Ellis and concluded he had gotten away. (Jenkins, RE 046)

Unfortunately, Mr. Ellis had not gotten away, but rather he was beaten severely. He sustained head injuries and a concussion, which explains his inability to remember what happened, per the neurosurgeon who treated him, Dr. Rutkowski (RE 095). Ellis recalled going around the corner of the building, getting hit in the head, and the next thing, waking up in jail. (Ellis, RE 039). He did not know and cannot identify his assailants.

As will be discussed below, in March 2009, Plaintiff's counsel learned of another witness, Edgar Love. He was deposed and testified that he did not know Mr. Ellis prior to this incident (Love, RE 063-064), but that he was the one who had found Mr. Ellis in a ditch near the Double Quick on Double Quick property that night. Love helped Ellis up, and brought him to the side of the store (RE 067). He testified that Mr. Ellis was in bad shape; he was bleeding from the head, and that Ellis could not even talk to him. (Love, RE 067). Love also said that when he did see Ellis again after the incident, Ellis "didn't even know who I was". (Love 074)

Love alerted the Double Quick staff that there was an injured man outside and that they should call the police or an ambulance. (Love depo, RE 067, 069)². After police and an ambulance arrived, Love left. Mrs. Timmons verifies that when she went to the Double Quick to pick Mr. Ellis up, she saw the ambulance and police but she could not find Mr. Ellis. (Timmons RE 112)

¹Love testified that he was living in Illinois from 2004 until September 2008 (Love depo, RE 55, 56) though he would visit and stay here for short periods when his mother was ill. It is understandable then that Mr. Love was not identified as a witness, because Love never gave a statement to the police, and he admitted that Mr. Ellis did not recognize him or know of his involvement until after he returned from Illinois.

²Double Quick claims it had not knowledge of this incident until December 2007 when the lawsuit was filed. However, this is improbable since according to the corporate representative, Scott Shafer, the employee at the cash register has a clear view of the pumps and parking lot. (RE 088). Surely, a police car and an ambulance would have caught the attention of that employee if no one else.

Mr. Ellis was taken to jail on the mistaken belief that he was drunk. When Ellis woke up, police took him to meet his sister, Jean Cummins, who took him home and eventually to the local hospital (Cummins, RE 050) He was diagnosed with a concussion, broken jaw and broken teeth. He was transferred by ambulance to the hospital in Greenville where he stayed for two weeks and had to go through rehabilitation (Cummins, RE 051; Dr. Rutkowski, RE 095)

Evidence concerning dangerousness of the area

According to Ellis (who testified that he worked for the Police undercover), there is a drug house across the street from this Double Quick and he has witnessed drug sales at the Double Quick "almost every day" (Ellis, RE 041-042) Robert Jenkins also testified about a prior incident he had had at the Double Quick that made him frightened of the area. He said that there are always many cars there and one day, when he came out of the store, he exchanged words with someone, and "they just threw a bottle and broke the window out" of his car. Jenkins did not file an incident report with Double Quick; he just went on and left (Jenkins, RE 046). However, this incident made him fearful of the area (RE 047). Jenkins testified that he has seen a security guard inside the Double Quick Store, and sometimes even outside. Jenkins also testified that there were always a lot of people around the Double Quick and liquor store, outside, drinking. (RE 045).

There have been numerous incidents of reported criminal activity at this Double Quick, including aggravated assault, October 30, 2003 (RE 116); burglary, January 1, 2005 (RE 119); burglary, January 2, 2005 (RE 122); disorderly conduct, September 16, 2000 (RE 129)where the police report indicates over 100 people were in the parking lot; malicious mischief, July 2005 (RE 131) involving a domestic dispute; simple assault in September 2005 (RE 133); gasoline drive off, (RE 128); disturbing the peace, July 2006 (RE 134); petty larceny, August 2006 (RE 135) and

anther assault (mace sprayed) that day before Mr. Ellis's assault (October 5, 2002 (RE 136). There were a total of twelve documented incidents before Mr. Ellis' on October 6, 2006.

Despite these incidents, and testimony of large groups of people loitering in front of the liquor store that is adjacent to the Double Quick, Defendant's vice president of operations, Scott Shafer described the neighborhood as "quiet" and "residential" (RE 086A). Shafer admitted that Double Quick has not consulted with any security company regarding security at the store prior to October 2006 – but relies on the "ongoing dialogue with the police department" (RE 086). However, Double Quick apparently is concerned enough about activity at the site to provide security from Inner City Security four nights a week from 9 p.m. to closing, Thursday through Sunday (Shafer, RE 087). Shafer said this was needed as these were "busy times" for the store, because Thursday was "club night" and because of events at the High School a block a way – not because of the criminal activity at the store (RE 087). However, there is a fundamental difference between the need for additional employees during peak business times and the need for security. Double Quick's actions in hiring part time security reflect an awareness of conditions at the store and in the area that required a deterrent presence on the premises and not just additional help during busy times. The problem is that it only schedules this security part time.

Plaintiff anticipated calling as his expert, Chief Tyrone Lewis, who is eminently qualified in the field of law enforcement and security (See resume, RE 141). He was prepared to testify, as noted in his affidavit (RE 155), that Mr. Ellis' assault was a natural and foreseeable consequence of the conditions and circumstances that existed there at the Double Quick on that day. He pointed out that there was testimony that the initial attack took place on Mr. Ellis in front of the store (which Shafer said the employee up front could readily see), but no one from the store intervened. He

further said that the crime statistics and testimony of Mr. Jenkins who was afraid of the area show that the area was dangerous. Chief Lewis was prepared to testify from the Law Enforcement Officer's Complete Crime Prevention Manual, and other professional articles (RE 160-173) how security risks are evaluated and how he determined that this area was in fact dangerous.

The employees at the store that day were inadequately trained and wholly failed to act when the assault on Mr. Ellis occurred Corporate representative Scott Shafer testified that of the four employees at the Indianola store, only one, the manager, has attended the company's training program, Double Quick University. This training includes actions to take to avoid robberies, rapes and abductions and one session where the employee is taught to scan the outside:

"looking for individuals that may be loitering, looking for individuals that may be engaged in suspicious activity that may rise to the level that the employee would become suspicious or become uncomfortable and make a judgement call if they needed to call the police to come sweep the parking lot or come check on whatever the activity may be. (RE 083-084)

However, this one trained manager was not in the store at the time of the Ellis incident. (Shafer, RE 054, 081). The other employees merely had on the job training, watching videos (RE 080) and Shafer claims that they had no knowledge of this incident (RE 088). However, this is not consistent with Shafer's testimony that the employee at the cash register has a clear view of the pumps and parking lot. (RE 088). Surely, even if the employee stationed there did not see the actual assault, he or she should have seen the police car and ambulance that witnesses say came thereafter.

Double Quick's only other form of "security" were twelve video cameras, eight of which are inside the store; three others outside are pointed at the parking lot and one is positioned to see the front door (Shafer RE 082). However, Mr. Shafer did not know if they were functional on the day of Mr. Ellis' assault (RE 083 and if store employees missed the assault, the police and the

ambulance, it is doubtful that they were watching the monitors for the security cameras either.

Procedural background of the lawsuit

Plaintiff filed suit against the owner of Double Quick (Gresham Service Station Inc., and Bradley MacNealy), on September 24, 2007; the Complaint was amended on October 27, 2007 (Amended Complaint, RE 019). Defendants answered the Complaint (Answer of Gresham, RE and Answer of Bradley MacNealy, RE 023 and RE 030) and an Agreed Scheduling Order was entered setting various deadlines for the case. By the terms of the initial Scheduling Order, discovery would end on June 30, 2008; however, an Agreed Amended Scheduling Order was entered on September 8, 2008, extending discovery to October 31, 2008. (See Docket, RE 02).

Depositions of several individuals were taken as well as written discovery exchanged.

Both sides designated experts; Plaintiffs designated Chief Tyrone Lewis, RE 14; and the

Defendants designated Lee D. Vance, RE 174. Plaintiff's expert opined that premises were

unreasonably dangerous, making Mr. Ellis's assault reasonably foreseeable and putting the

Defendants on notice of the need for additional safety precautions; Defendants' expert opined the

opposite. Neither party raised any *Daubert* challenge to the qualifications, methodology or

opinions of the other's expert.

In March 2009, Plaintiff's counsel learned of the new witness, Edgar Love, and on April 1, 2009, counsel filed a Motion to take Love's deposition, setting the matter for hearing on May, 4, 2009 (RE 181). At this point, no trial date had been set.³ On April 8, 2009, the Defendants' objected to taking Love's deposition, saying that the discovery deadline had passed and that the

³The Defendants did not seek a trial date until early April (See correspondence to the Trial Court from Malissa Winfield, dated April 1, 2009 (RE).

Plaintiff had failed to identify Love prior to that time. While Plaintiff's Motion to take Love's deposition was set for hearing, on May 11, 2009, the parties submitted an Agreed Amended Scheduling order that extended discovery to June 15, 2009 and set a September 21, 2009 trial date (RE 183). On June 5, 2009, Edgar Love was deposed.

On July 8, 2009, the Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Motion to Strike Deposition testimony and exclude trial testimony of Edgar Love (RE 184). The Defendants claim that Ellis' failure to disclose Love as a potential witness earlier in the discovery process was a wilful misrepresentation, because Love testified that he had told the Plaintiff (not Plaintiff's counsel) in 2007 of his involvement. Defendants sought dismissal of this case as a sanction for abusing the discovery process under Rule 37(e).

The Plaintiff responded to the Motion (RE 195) raising that the fact that Mr. Ellis and Mr. Love are not friends and did not even know each other prior to the incident. Moreover, even after the incident, Mr. Love testified that Mr. Ellis did not recognize him as his Good Samaritan, nor did Ellis remember him. It was not until March of 2009 that Plaintiff's counsel learned of Mr Love's existence and immediately alerted defense counsel. Moreover, while Mr. Love may have run into Mr. Ellis several times, Mr. Love also testified that prior to September 2008, he had been living in Illinois for four years, with occasional visits to Indianola to see his mother who was ill.⁴ Therefore his interaction with Mr. Ellis was sporadic and minimal. This coupled with Mr. Ellis' difficulty in remembering anything after being hit, explains why Mr. Love's

⁴Love also testified on June 5, 2009, that he had been back in Indianola for about a year (RE 059). He moved back in September 2008 from Illinois, where he had been living for fours years prior (a year in Springfield and three years in Peoria) (RE 058-060). Therefore, Love lived in Illinois from 2004 to 2008. He clarified that he would come home for visits and that he was here again in December 2007 when his mom got sick (RE 057)

involvement was not discovered by his counsel earlier.

At a hearing on the Motion on August 10, 2009, the Trial Court specifically asked the Defendants how they would be prejudiced (RE 231) in light of the fact that discovery had been extended, and Mr. Love's deposition was taken in June (nearly four months before trial). The Defendants could not articulate specific prejudice to themselves, (RE 232) but kept pressing that sanctions had to be imposed because in their opinion, the late disclosure was wilful.

On September 10, 2009, the Trial Court denied Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (RE 203), offering the Defendants the opportunity to request a continuance and conduct further discovery or to submit further testimony on the issue of Mr. Ellis's late disclosure of Mr. Love (RE 205).

Instead of seeking a continuance, on September 15, 2009, the Defendants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, asking the Court to reconsider its ruling concerning Mr. Love's deposition (RE 206) and to dismiss the case. The Plaintiff responded (RE 214), pointing out the relevant case law concerning premises liability and the forseeability of criminal acts.

The parties argued the matter as second time before the Court on September 15, 2009 (RE 241). During the argument, the Court *sua sponte* raised concerns about Plaintiff's expert witness, Chief Lewis (RE 258). Plaintiff's counsel offered to bring Chief Lewis to the Court for a Daubert hearing so the Court could see how the Chief came to his opinions, using, *inter alia* methodology from the National Crime Prevention Institute to determine when criminal activity is foreseeable (RE 258).

Instead of conducting a *Daubert* hearing, on October 5, 2009, the Court granted the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (RE 008), this time addressing the merits of

Plaintiff's claim. The Trial Court found that the Defendants had conceded that Mr. Ellis was an invitee at the Double Quick store, but that the Plaintiff "had not produced sufficient competent evidence that reasonable minds could differ as to whether an 'atmosphere of violence' existed at the subject store nor could it be said the assault on Plaintiff was reasonably foreseeable." The Court in essence struck Plaintiff's expert, even though the Defendants had not challenged him at all. The Court said that Chief Lewis' opinions were "without sufficient facts or data" but merely subjective and "unsupported speculation".

The Trial Court then revisited the issue of Edgar Love's testimony and struck it as well, saying that the medical opinions of Dr. Rutkowski had established that Mr. Ellis had no long term memory problems. Without any further evidence, the Court concluded that Ellis' forgetfulness was not the result of a medical condition but an intentional act to circumvent the discovery deadlines. As a sanction, the Court struck the deposition testimony of Edgar Love.

Plaintiff timely appealed this adverse ruling (RE 015) on or about October 26, 2009.

Summary of Argument

Plaintiff was undisputably an invitee at Gresham's Double Quick on the night of the incident. It is well established law that a business owes a duty of reasonable care to protect its patrons from assaults by third parties while they are on the premises and to protect the invitee from reasonably foreseeable injury at the hands of others. *Gatewood v. Sampson*, 812, So.2d 212 (Miss. 2002). To prove "reasonable foreseeability" that would require a business owner to anticipate such attacks, Plaintiff must show (1) actual or constructive knowledge of the assailant's violent nature or (2) actual or constructive knowledge that an atmosphere of violence exists on the premises. *Lyle v. Mladinich*, 584 So.2d 597 (Miss. 1991). In the case at hand,

Plaintiff Ellis provided sufficient proof of the atmosphere of violence surrounding Gresham's Double Quick prior to the time of Mr. Ellis' assault, thus creating a question of fact for the jury to decide. There being a material fact in dispute, summary judgment for the Defendant should have been denied.

Second, the Trial Court further erred in excluding the opinions of Plaintiff's security expert, Chief Tyrone Lewis, without a *Daubert* hearing to determine the reliability of his opinions and methodology. The Trial Court's *sua sponte* determination despite Plaintiff's request for such a hearing was an abuse of the Court's discretion and constitutes reversible error.

Finally, the Trial Court erroneously excluded the testimony of Edgar Love, a witness disclosed by the Plaintiff in March 2009, at a time when no trial date had been set. Discovery was thereafter extended and the Defendant was able to depose Mr. Love well in advance of the trial date. There is no basis in the facts or the law for the Trial Court to have found Mr. Ellis to have wilfully and intentionally circumvented discovery deadlines when there was no showing of a pattern of falsehood on his part. *Wood v. Biloxi Public School District*, 757 So.2d 190 (Miss. 2000). The sanction of excluding Mr. Love as a witness was an abuse of the Court's discretion.

Argument

I. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's premises liability/negligence claims.

In reviewing the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Knight v. Terrell*, 961 So.2d 30, 31 (Miss.2007); *Jamison v. Barnes*, 8 So.3d 238, 242(¶7) (Miss.Ct.App.2008) (citing *Treasure Bay Corp. v. Ricard*, 967 So.2d 1235, 1238(¶ 10) (Miss.2007)). "For a summary judgment motion to be granted[,] there must exist no genuine

issues of material fact and the moving party must be entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

Bryant v. Bd. of Supervisors of Rankin County, 10 So.3d 919, 921(¶ 4) Miss.Ct.App.2008) (citing M.R.C.P. 56(c)); Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d 691 (Miss. 2006).

A fact is material if it 'tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties.'

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