#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-1750

JESSIE DEAN ELLIS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

GRESHAM SERVICE STATIONS, INC., D/B/A DOUBLE QUICK, INC., BRADLY MACNEALEY

**APPELLEES** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SUNFLOWER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE RICHARD A. SMITH, CIRCUIT JUDGE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLEES GRESHAM SERVICE STATIONS, D/B/A DOUBLE QUICK, INC. AND BRADLY MacNEALY

Willie T. Abston, Mallie LeAnn W. Nealey, MB Malissa Winfield, MB BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC P.O. Box 6010 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-6010 1020 Highland Colony Parkway Suite 1400 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Phone: 601.948.5711 Fax: 601.985.4500

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment in Double Quick's favor should be affirmed because Mr. Ellis failed to show, with "significant, probative evidence," that an "atmosphere of violence" existed at the Double Quick so as to give Double Quick "cause to anticipate" Mr. Ellis's alleged assault. As proof supporting the "atmosphere of violence" factor, Mr. Ellis relies upon twelve police incident reports spanning a **ten-year** time period prior to his alleged attack (R.E. 115-40; R. 455-80); his own testimony and that of his long-time friend, Richard Jenkins, regarding the Double Quick premises; and the Affidavit of his liability expert Commander Tyrone Lewis, in which Commander Lewis bases his foreseeability opinions on this same evidence. In other "atmosphere of violence" cases, the Mississippi appellate courts have found that similar proof does not, as a matter of law, establish an "atmosphere of violence" sufficient to overcome summary judgment on the essential duty element of Mr. Ellis's premises liability claim.

Moreover, because Commander Lewis based his foreseeability opinions on this same evidence, the trial court was well within its discretion to disregard his Affidavit, finding his opinions were not based on the necessary "sufficient facts and data" required under Miss. R. Evid. 702. The trial court did not error in disregarding Commander Lewis's Affidavit in granting summary judgment in Double Quick's favor. In fact, the Mississippi appellate courts have affirmed such decisions under very similar circumstances — including two cases in which Commander Lewis's affidavits were found lacking. Alqasim v. Capitol City Hotel Investors,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Mr. Ellis testified that he knew "drug deals" occurred on the Double Quick premises (R.E. 42; R. 107 (Ellis Dep. pp. 61-63)), but he never reported these "drug deals" to Double Quick. *Id.* Mr. Jenkins testified that people would congregate on the property; and that someone had thrown a beer bottle through a window in his car, which caused him to fear going on the premises. R.E. 46-47; R.143-44 (Jenkins Dep. pp. 20-21). Notably, Mr. Jenkins never reported the beer bottle incident to Double Quick, and, despite his "fear" of the premises, he visited the Double Quick "probably every day . . . at this particular time." R.E. 46; R.143 (Jenkins Dep. p. 20).

989 So. 2d 488, 493 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); Davis v. Christian Brotherhood Homes of Jackson, Miss., Inc., 957 So. 2d 390, 408-10 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Alternatively only, should the Court reverse and remand this case for a trial on the merits, then the trial court's decision to exclude any deposition or live testimony of Edgar Love should be affirmed. The trial court properly exercised the "great latitude" afforded the trial courts in imposing discovery sanctions, when it excluded the deposition testimony of Edgar Love and excluded him from testifying at trial. Though Mr. Love's testimony goes to the very merits of Mr. Ellis's premises liability claim, Mr. Ellis did not identify Mr. Love until March 2009 -- outside the twice-extended discovery deadline and nearly three years after his alleged October 7, 2006 assault. Mr. Ellis represented to the trial court that he did not learn about Mr. Love until March of 2009, but Mr. Love, when deposed, said he saw and spoke to Mr. Ellis "countless" times since the incident (R. 275-81); and specifically testified that as early as 2007 (i) he told Mr. Ellis about the role he played on the night in question; (ii) Mr. Ellis thanked him for his help at that time; and (iii) Mr. Ellis told Mr. Love what had happened to him on that night. *Id*.

Mr. Ellis's claimed "forgetfulness" as to Mr. Love's existence and knowledge about his alleged assault is refuted by (i) the testimony of Dr. Lenard Rutkowski, Mr. Ellis's treating neurosurgeon, that Mr. Ellis's concussion typically results in short-term, not long-term amnesia; (ii) the lack of any contrary medical evidence that would show Mr. Ellis suffered from long-term amnesia; and (iii) Mr. Ellis's own testimony in which he remember numerous other pre- and post-assault facts. This evidence shows that Mr. Ellis's untimely March 2009 disclosure of Mr. Love was indeed intentional. The trial court was well within its discretion in finding that Mr.

As noted above, Mr. Ellis describes Mr. Love as "the one who had found [him] in a ditch near the Double Quick on Double Quick property that night [of his attack]." Appellant's Brief at 3. Though Double Quick disputes that Mr. Ellis was found "on Double Quick property" because the ditch is **not** on Double Quick property, the point here is that Plaintiff relies on Mr. Love's testimony for this crucial fact - yet failed to reveal his existence until nearly three years after his alleged assault.

Ellis's claimed "forgetfulness" regarding Mr. Love "was not the result of any medical condition but an intentional act to circumvent discovery deadlines so that [Mr. Love] could provide testimony favorable to the Plaintiff in this matter." R.E. 14, R. 703. Based on the evidence before it, the trial court had ample grounds to exclude Mr. Love's testimony pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 37 and the applicable case law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review.

This Court "employ[s] the *de novo* standard in reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment." *Brown ex rel. Ford v. J.J. Ferguson Sand & Gravel Co.*, 858 So. 2d 129, 130 (Miss. 2003), citing *O'Neal Steel, Inc. v. Millette*, 797 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 2001). In conducting a *de novo* review, the Court looks "at all evidentiary matters before [it], including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits." *Brown*, 858 So. 2d at 130 (citations omitted); *see Newell v. Hinton*, 556 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (Miss. 1990). The nonmoving party must diligently oppose summary judgment. *Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No.* 4057, *Inc.*, 519 So. 2d 413, 415 (Miss. 1988).

Thus the trial court -- and this Court upon *de novo* review -- must assess the evidence presented to determine whether Mr. Ellis may proceed with his lawsuit. In particular, the Court must determine whether Mr. Ellis, in rebutting Double Quick's summary judgment motion, has furnished "significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." *Borne v. Dunlop Tire Corp.*, 12 So. 3d 565, 570 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 485 (Miss. 2006)) (emphasis added). The evidence necessary to meet this burden must be evidence upon which "a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996), citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). In short, Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 mandates the entry of summary judgment where the non-moving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to his case on which he bears the burden of proof at trial. *Grisham*, 519 So. 2d at 416; *see Evan Johnson & Sons Const., Inc. v. State*, 877 So. 2d 360, 365 (Miss. 2004); *Borne*, 12 So. 3d at 570.

## B. Summary Judgment in Double Quick's Favor Should be Affirmed Because Mr. Ellis Cannot Show His Attack Was Reasonably Foreseeable to Double Quick.

To establish a prima facie premises liability case, Mr. Ellis must prove the familiar elements of duty, breach of duty, proximate cause, and damages. *Crain v. Cleveland Lodge* 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So. 2d 1186, 1189 (Miss. 1994). In this case, Mr. Ellis does not have sufficient, competent evidence to overcome summary judgment on the duty element of his premises liability claim.

In a premises liability action, the duty owed by the property owner is established by first identifying the injured party's status. *Little by Little v. Bell*, 719 So. 2d 757, 760 (Miss. 1998). For purposes of its summary judgment motion only, Double Quick conceded that Mr. Ellis was an invitee.

As to the duty owed an invitee, "[t]he landowner is not an insurer of the invitee's safety, but does owe to an invitee the duty to keep the premises reasonably safe. . . ." Corley v. Evans, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added). The premises owner must employ reasonable care to protect an invitee from "reasonably foreseeable injuries at the hands of another." Newell v. S. Jitney Jungle Co., 830 So. 2d 621, 623 (Miss. 2002).

Criminal actions of third parties, like the unknown assailants here, are considered "reasonably foreseeable if the premises owner had cause to anticipate such acts." *Davis v. Christian Brotherhood Homes of Jackson, Miss., Inc.*, 957 So. 2d 390, 401 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The "cause to anticipate" element is satisfied if the premises owner had "(1) actual or constructive knowledge of the third party's violent nature, or (2) actual or constructive knowledge that an atmosphere of violence existed on the premises." *Id.* "[T]he overall pattern of criminal activity prior to the event in question that occurred in the general vicinity of the defendant's business premises, as well as the frequency of criminal activity on the premises, are

both relevant factors in determining whether an 'atmosphere of violence' exists on the premises." *Davis*, 957 So. 2d at 401, quoting *Crain*, 641 So. 2d at 1189-90.

As detailed below, Mr. Ellis lacks sufficient proof of either foreseeability factor necessary to show that Double Quick had a duty to protect him from his unknown assailants. He has no evidence regarding Double Quick's knowledge of the "violent nature" of his assailants because they are unknown; and he lacks the requisite "significant probative evidence" as to the existence of an "atmosphere of violence" at the Double Quick that he needs in order to overcome summary judgment in Double Quick's favor.

a. Mr. Ellis Cannot Prove Actual or Constructive Knowledge by Double Quick of His Alleged Assailants' Violent Nature.

Because Mr. Ellis cannot identify his alleged assailants (R. 361-62 (Ellis Dep. pp. 32-33)), Double Quick did not – could not – have any actual or constructive knowledge of these unknown assailants' violent nature. R.E. 263, Tr. at 44. Mr. Ellis does not contest this. The "violent nature" factor of the foreseeability test is not met.

b. Mr. Ellis Cannot Prove an "Atmosphere Of Violence" Existed at the Double Quick.

Thus, in order to establish that Double Quick owed him a duty to protect him from his unknown assailants, Mr. Ellis must present "significant probative evidence" that Double Quick had "cause to anticipate" his "brutal beating" due to an "atmosphere of violence" existing on the premises. Mr. Ellis's proof of an "atmosphere of violence" at the Double Quick is insufficient as a matter of law. Double Quick is entitled to summary judgment in this case.

Mr. Ellis's "atmosphere of violence" evidence consists of the following:

• Twelve police incident reports relating to the subject premises (R.E. 115-40; R. 455-80).

These 12 incident reports span the ten-year period prior to Mr. Ellis's alleged October 2006 assault and none of them involve a "brutal beating" by unknown assailants, as Mr. Ellis alleges occurred in this case.

 Mr. Ellis's testimony that he knew "drug deals" occurred on the Double Quick premises (R.E. 42; R. 107 (Ellis Dep. pp. 61-63)).

None of these "drug deals" were reported to Double Quick (R.E. 42; R. 107 (Ellis Dep. at p. 62)).

• Testimony by Mr. Ellis's long-time friend, Richard Jenkins, that people would congregate on the property; and that someone had thrown a beer bottle through a window in his car, which caused him to fear going on the premises (R.E. 46-47; R.143-44 (Jenkins Dep. pp. 20-21)).

Mr. Jenkins never reported the beer bottle incident to Double Quick, and, despite his "fear" of the premises, he visited the Double Quick "probably every day... at this particular time." (R.E. 46; R.143 (Jenkins Dep. p. 20)).

The twelve incidents Mr. Ellis relies upon (R.E. 115-40; R. 455-80) are summarized below:

Date of Incident	Description of Incident
March 14, 1996	Larceny – theft of \$6's worth of gasoline. R.E. 128; R. 468.
July 4, 1996	Burglary – theft of beer. R.E. 139-40; R.479-80.
September 16, 2000	Disorderly Conduct - Fight. R.E. 129-30; R. 469-70.
October 30, 2003	Aggravated Assault - Dispute involving two teenagers girls over a boy. R.E. 115-17; R. 455-57.
January 1, 2005	Burglary – theft of cigarettes and beer. R.E. 118-20; R. 458-60.
January 2, 2005	Burglary – theft of safe. R.E. 121-23; R. 461-63.
July 24, 2005	Malicious Mischief/Vandalism – Dispute between boyfriend and girlfriend where boyfriend pounded on girlfriend's car window. R.E. 131-32; R. 471-72.
August 19, 2005	Vandalism – Boys playing in store and hit glass breaking it. R.E. 126-27; R. 466-67.
September 6, 2005	Simple Assault – Domestic dispute. R.E. 133; R. 473.
July 2, 2006	Disturbing the peace/Disorderly conduct – two males creating disturbance by fighting. R.E. 134; R. 474.
August 30, 2006	Petit Larceny – customer left gas pump without paying for \$10's worth of gasoline. R.E. 135; R. 475.
October 5, 2006	Simple Assault – one woman, known to the other, sprayed other woman with mace. R.E. 136; R. 476.

These twelve incidents, taken together with the testimony described above, <sup>10</sup> are not the type of incidents, nor are they of the frequency, that the Court has found establishes an "atmosphere of violence" sufficient to overcome summary judgment on the essential duty element of Mr. Ellis's premises liability claim.

First, the twelve incidents Mr. Ellis relies upon span ten years prior to his attack -- a far greater time span than has been examined in other Mississippi "atmosphere of violence" cases. In fact, the ten year time span of the crime incidents Mr. Ellis relies upon is two times, or more, the time span used in other premises cases (see Gatewood v. Sampson, 812 So. 2d 212, 220 (Miss. 2002) (3 years); Crain, 641 So. 2d at 1192 (5 years); Kelly v. Retzer & Retzer, Inc., 417 So. 2d 556, 559 (Miss. 1982) (3 years); Davis, 957 So. 2d at 402 (4 years); Magnusen v. Pine Belt Inv. Corp., 963 So. 2d 1279, 1282-83 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (5 years)) -- with the Court in some cases reviewing a time span of a year or less. Glover ex rel. Glover v. Jackson State University, 968 So. 2d 1267, 1279 (Miss. 2007) (10 months); American Nat. Ins. Co. v. Hogue, 749 So. 2d 1254, 1258-59 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (1 year).

Mr. Ellis also claims that the fact that Double Quick used security guards during peak traffic hours should be used against it to show his assault was reasonably foreseeable. Appellant's Brief at 17. The Court's analysis in Simpson v. Boyd, 880 So. 2d 1047 (Miss. 2004) shows this is not so. The Court held that defendant "Boyd's decision to install a panic button and security system in the building" was not evidence of the existence of an atmosphere of violence. Rather, it merely established that "Boyd was willing to take precautionary measures for any number of security reasons" -- not that he was on notice that the subject attack would occur in his office. Id. at 1052. Similarly, that Double Quick uses security personnel during peak traffic hours is not evidence of an atmosphere of violence, but rather simply reflects management's decision to provide security during the store's busiest hours. See R.E. 86-87; R. 423-24 (Shafer Dep. pp. 60-63).

Mr. Ellis also suggests that because Indianola's population is only 10% that of Jackson, Mississippi, he needs only 6 crime incidents to show foreseability, that being 10% of the 60 crime incidents occurring in Jackson that were reviewed by the Court in *Glover* and *Gatewood*. See Appellant's Brief at 15-16. Even if this comparison were valid, Mr. Ellis's failure to consider **the relevant time spans** likewise negates this "theory." The time span in *Gatewood* was three years, and in *Glover* it was 10 months. Properly applying Mr. Ellis's calculations, he would need 20 incidents in 10 years under *Gatewood*; and 72 incidents in 10 years under *Glover* -- not the six incidents he claims would be sufficient.

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